RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-12-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SCIERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP2274

DEMONTA ANTONIA HALL,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM POCAN, PRESIDING

OPENING BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ANTHONY D. RUSSOMANNO Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1076050

Attorneys for Wisconsin DOJ

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2238 (608) 267-2223 (Fax) russomannoad@doj.state.wi.us

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
I. Statutory background2
II. Hall's arrests and removal requests.
III. Court proceedings6
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT7
DOJ is entrusted with maintaining a complex database of arrest records and has properly retained Hall's arrest history under the governing statutes7
A. DOJ's application of the database statutes is entitled to due respect
B. DOJ correctly applied the statute's language, which is further confirmed by the surrounding statutory sections
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

A.J.M. v. Fla. Dep't of Law, Enf't, 15 So. 3d 707 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2009)
Racine Educ. Ass'n v. Com'r of Ins., 158 Wis. 2d 175, 462 N.W.2d 239 (Ct. App. 1990)7
State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 1109
Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. DOR, 2018 WI 75, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21
Westra v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 2013 WI App 93, 349 Wis. 2d 409, 835 N.W.2d 280 12, 14
Wis. Indus. Energy Grp., Inc. v. PSC, 2012 WI 89, 342 Wis. 2d 576, 819 N.W.2d 2407
Statutes
20 Ill. Comp. Stat. 2630/5.2(b)(1.5)
Fla. Stat. § 943.059(1)(b)2
Wis. Stat. § 19.31
Wis. Stat. § 111.335
Wis. Stat. § 165.82(1)
Wis. Stat. § 165.82(1), (2)
Wis. Stat. §§ 165.83 and 165.84 1–2
Wis. Stat. §§ 165.83–165.84 (1969)8
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(1)(c)
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(1)(c)132
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(1)(c)311
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(a)

Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(a)-(p)8
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(a)4
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(b)14
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(f)
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(j)
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(n)
Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(p)
Wis. Stat. § 165.842
Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1) 1, passim
Wis. Stat. § 165.84(4)
Wis. Stat. § 165.84(5)
Wis. Stat. § 227.526-7
Wis. Stat. § 227.57(10)
Wis. Stat. § 227.57(11)7
Wis. Stat. § 800.02(1)-(2)11
Wis. Stat. § 800.02(5)
Wis. Stat. § 800.035(2)(a)1., (5)(a)11
Wis. Stat. § 968.01(2)11
Wis. Stat. § 968.02(1)11
Statutes
Idaho Code § 67-3004(10)16
Wash. Rev. Code § 10.97.060(2), (3)16

iii

INTRODUCTION

Demonta Hall petitioned the Wisconsin Department of Justice (DOJ) to remove information about his arrest history from Wisconsin's criminal history database. Hall was arrested for outstanding municipal warrants and also new offenses. He was not prosecuted for new offenses, but the offenses in warrant status resulted in guilt and fines. The database reflected that.

However, Hall believed he was statutorily entitled to removal of the offenses. He petitioned DOJ for removal, but DOJ denied his request. That was because the governing statutes, Wis. Stat. §§ 165.83 and 165.84, contemplate removal only in limited circumstances, and do not allow removal of arrests where guilt results for *any* offense tied to that arrest.

Hall then sought chapter 227 judicial review. The circuit court observed that DOJ's interpretation of the statutes was clear and concise and its logic was sound, but it nonetheless ordered removal of the records. That was error under the plain language of the database statutes. This Court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The database statutes allow removal of an arrest fingerprint record when the person arrested is "released without charge, or cleared." Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1). It otherwise requires that DOJ keep the records. Here, Hall was arrested for two offenses, one of which was in warrant status. The offense in warrant status resulted in guilt. Did DOJ err when declining to remove the arrest record from the database?

The circuit court answered yes.

This Court should answer no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This appeal likely meets the criteria for publication, as it presents a question of first impression in the appellate courts, has arisen multiple times in the circuit courts, and is likely to reoccur.¹ Oral argument is not necessary, as the legal issues may be adequately addressed through briefing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This chapter 227 judicial review concerns statutory interpretation of a database statute administered by DOJ. The database contains fingerprint arrest records for more than 1.5 million individuals. Local law enforcement submits arrests to DOJ in the form of a fingerprint card that states the offenses underlying an arrest. Law enforcement, clerks of court, and others then update DOJ on what occurs with the legal proceedings. The database information is available to law enforcement and, to some extent, the public.

I. Statutory background.

The database. The database is governed by Wis. Stat. § 165.83 and portions of Wis. Stat. § 165.84. Under those statutes, local law enforcement must obtain fingerprints and other identifying data for those "arrested or taken into custody" for "offenses." Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1). An "offense" is a defined term under the statute. It includes any felony, misdemeanor, or "ordinance" violation. Wis. Stat. § 165.83(1)(c)1.-3. The statute's coverage also includes

 $\mathbf{2}$

¹ There are two other Milwaukee County decisions addressing similar circumstances, and those decisions came to inconsistent conclusions. The court in *Gildart v. DOJ*, (Wis. Cir. Ct. Milwaukee Cty: July 13, 2018), agreed with DOJ's interpretation (see R. 20:12–28); the court in *Carter v. DOJ*, (Wis. Cir. Ct. Milwaukee Cty: July 13, 2018), did not (see R. 22:1–10).

arrests of someone who is a "fugitive from justice." Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(a)4.

Although all of those categories are covered, law enforcement sometimes has discretion whether to submit the arrests in the first place. For felonies, certain listed misdemeanors, and fugitives from justice, law enforcement must submit fingerprints and arrest information to DOJ. Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1) (stating that law enforcement "shall" obtain the information for those categories listed in section 165.83(2)(a)). However, that mandatory category does not encompass all offenses under the statute. Wis. Stat. § 165.83(1)(c). For other "offenses," like ordinance violations and non-listed misdemeanors, law enforcement has discretion: it "may" take fingerprints and submit them to DOJ with the arrest information. See Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1) (stating that submission for offenses not listed in section 165.83(2)(a) is discretionary with law enforcement).

Although law enforcement has discretion whether to submit some arrests, DOJ has none on the receiving end. In all instances, DOJ "shall" accept and file the submissions from law enforcement. Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2) (stating what DOJ "shall" do regarding fingerprint arrest records under both subsections (a) and (b)). All submitted arrest records become part of the database.

Arrest records are fingerprint based, and so is the database. Thus, a fingerprint arrest card from a particular arrest is associated with the corresponding set of fingerprints in the database, if those fingerprints already exist in the database. Otherwise, a new fingerprint identity is created for the submitted fingerprints. See Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2).

DOJ also must collect information on what happens later: "concerning the legal action taken in connection with offenses committed . . . [through] the final discharge of the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(f). Law enforcement, clerks

of court, and others are directed to supply DOJ with the information about the legal action taken. Wis. Stat. § 165.84(5). The database also includes entries from correctional facilities: inmates are fingerprinted and photographed upon entry. Wis. Stat. § 165.84(4).

In turn, DOJ is required to undertake certain tasks, including comparing the fingerprints to those on file and making data available to law enforcement agencies. Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(j), (n). DOJ's duties also include acting in cooperation with other agencies, tribal law enforcement, and the F.B.I. to coordinate a national system of records. Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(p).

In addition to making information available to law enforcement, members of the public or other governmental agencies may request history checks of the database. For a fee, members of the public may request searches of a subset of the data.² Wis. Stat. § 165.82(1), (2).

Removal. A person who was arrested may request the return of his fingerprint record created in connection with the arrest, if the statutory conditions are met: "Any person arrested or taken into custody and subsequently released without charge, or cleared of the offense through court proceedings, shall have any fingerprint record taken in connection therewith returned upon request." Wis. Stat. \S 165.84(1).

II. Hall's arrests and removal requests.

This case concerns two record removal requests by Hall, both of which turn on the same legal question. As to each arrest, Hall was convicted of a charge stemming from a municipal citation.

² The public does not have access to fingerprints, social security numbers, and some other categories of data.

First, the Milwaukee Police Department transmitted to DOJ a fingerprint arrest card from a September 21, 2015, arrest of Hall. (R. 9:40.) The fingerprint card reflects that Hall was arrested for two offenses: operating while suspended and possession of an electronic weapon. (R. 9:40.) The operating while suspended offense was related to a citation in warrant status. (R. 9:51.) The Milwaukee County DA's Office elected not to prosecute the electronic weapons charge. (R. 9:43.) However, in municipal court, the operating while suspended charge resulted in a finding of guilt and a fine. (R. 9:51.)

That arrest and the actions taken were reflected in "Cycle 6" of Hall's criminal history. (R. 9:14–16.) For the electronic weapons charge, the history stated "dismissed" and "no prosecution." (R. 9:15.) For the operating while suspended charge, it reflected a municipal court conviction and fine. (R. 9:15–16.)

Second, the police transmitted another fingerprint arrest card for a January 11, 2017, arrest. (R. 9:22.) The fingerprint card reflects that Hall was again arrested for two offenses: second degree sexual assault and disorderly conduct. (R. 9:22.) The disorderly conduct offense was related to a citation in warrant status. (R. 9:36.) The Milwaukee County DA's Office elected not to prosecute the sexual assault charge. (R. 9:26.) However, in municipal court, the disorderly conduct offense resulted in a finding of guilt and a fine. (R. 9:36.)

That arrest and the actions taken were reflected in "Cycle 7" of Hall's criminal history. (R. 9:16–17.) For the sexual assault charge, the history stated "dismissed" and "no prosecution." (R. 9:16.) For the disorderly conduct charge, it reflected a municipal court conviction and fine. (R. 9:16–17.)

In October 2017, Hall requested that DOJ remove the fact that he was arrested for the electronic weapon and assault charges. (R. 9:25.) The reason given was that he had "No Process' letter[s] from the Milwaukee County District

Attorney's Office which confirm that Mr. Hall was not prosecuted for the charges referenced in Cycles 6 and 7" for the weapon and assault offenses. (R. 9:25.) DOJ denied the request because the arrests were "not eligible for expungement pursuant to Wisconsin statute 165.84(1)," as Hall was neither "released without charge [n]or cleared" for the offenses tied to those arrests. (R. 9:29, 46, A-App. 12–13.) The response explained that "[a]ll charges on a given fingerprint card must be released or cleared for the offense to qualify for an expungement." (R. 9:29, 46.)

III. Court proceedings.

After DOJ's denial, Hall filed this chapter 227 petition for judicial review of DOJ's two final agency decisions. See Wis. Stat. § 227.52. (R. 1.)

Hall's The circuit adopted court statutory interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1), and reversed and remanded. (R. 23:6-11, A-App. 6-11.) The court accepted Hall's view that there must be a "new" charge after an arrest, or else that arrest must be removed. (R. 23:8, A-App. 8.) For example, the court reasoned that "Mr. Hall was not 'subsequently charged' with operating while suspended, because he had already been previously charged and that offense was only listed due to an outstanding warrant." (R. 23:10, A-App. 10.) The court concluded that, "[t]herefore, Mr. Hall was 'released without charge" because the municipal charge preexisted the arrest, and he was never charged with a new offense.³ (R. 23:10, A-App. 10.) It applied the same reasoning to both fingerprint arrest cards at issue.

³ Hall's original request to DOJ asked to remove only the electronic weapons and sexual assault offenses (and not the municipal offenses). (R. 9:25.) However, in the circuit court, the issue addressed was whether the entire fingerprint arrest card

Although the court agreed that DOJ's "logic [was] sound" and that it provided "clear and concise" statutory interpretation, it declined to adopted DOJ's reading—that being charged at some point (before or after arrest) means the person was not released without charge. (R. 23:8, 10, A-App. 8, 10.) DOJ appealed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When an agency's decision is challenged under § 227.52, "an appellate court reviews the decision of the agency, not that of the circuit court." *Wis. Indus. Energy Grp., Inc. v. PSC*, 2012 WI 89, ¶ 14, 342 Wis. 2d 576, 819 N.W.2d 240.

No "deference" applies to agency interpretations of statutes. Wis. Stat. § 227.57(11); Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. DOR, 2018 WI 75, ¶ 3, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21. However, courts afford due-weight "respect" to the agency's views of the law, in accordance with its "experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(10); Tetra Tech, 382 Wis. 2d 496, ¶¶ 77-78, 108.

ARGUMENT

DOJ is entrusted with maintaining a complex database of arrest records and has properly retained Hall's arrest history under the governing statutes.

Hall bears the burden "to overturn the [agency] action," and he cannot meet it here. *Racine Educ. Ass'n v. Com'r of Ins.*, 158 Wis. 2d 175, 182, 462 N.W.2d 239 (Ct. App. 1990). DOJ's denial of Hall's removal request properly applied the governing statutes, which create a database of arrest histories, not just a list of convictions. In limited

should be removed. As explained more below, that is because the removal statute, when triggered, operates at the fingerprint-arrest-record level. See Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1).

circumstances, an individual may request removal of a fingerprint record, but only when the "arrested" person is "released without charge" or "cleared." Hall was not, and so his records properly remain part of the database. The circuit court's conclusion to the contrary should be reversed.

A. DOJ's application of the database statutes is entitled to due respect.

Courts afford "due weight" to an agency's view where, as here, it is entrusted to administer a technical and complex statutory program. *Tetra Tech*, 382 Wis. 2d 496, ¶¶ 77-78, 108. As chapter 227 instructs, "due weight shall be accorded the experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge of the agency involved, as well as discretionary authority conferred upon it." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(10). Where those factors are present, a court gives "respectful, appropriate consideration to the agency's views," while still exercising its "independent judgment." *Tetra Tech*, 382 Wis. 2d 496, ¶ 78.

These factors are clearly present here. The Legislature has directed DOJ to obtain arrest and related information and maintain a large and complex database, and DOJ has done so for decades—since 1969. See Wis. Stat. §§ 165.83-.84 (1969). That role requires substantial specialized knowledge about effective law enforcement data. its collection and transmission, and what will "aid" law enforcement "in the performance of their official duties." See Wis. Stat. 165.83(2)(a)-(p). The law concerns Ş unique-to-lawenforcement "fingerprint records," and requires maintaining and organizing the database so that local, state, and federal law enforcement, can reliably access it. Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(n). The law also grants substantial discretion to DOJ. For example, it must consider what "will aid these agencies in the performance of their official duties," the specifics of which are left to DOJ's expertise. Similarly, the

statute grants broad discretion when deciding what additional information to collect and what might be "useful." Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(f).

Therefore, although not controlling, this Court should view DOJ's application of the law with the considerable respect it is due.

B. DOJ correctly applied the statute's language, which is further confirmed by the surrounding statutory sections.

DOJ may not remove a fingerprint arrest card unless the arrested person is released without charge or is cleared of all offenses. Hall was not.

"Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. It "is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. ¶ 46. And language is read "where possible to give reasonable effect to every word." Id.

DOJ applied this record-removal language:

Any person arrested or taken into custody and subsequently released without charge, or cleared of the offense through court proceedings, shall have any fingerprint record taken in connection therewith returned upon request.

Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1).

The language applies to a "person arrested" and turns on whether certain conditions come to pass: being "released without charge" or "cleared of the offense." Wis. Stat.

§ 165.84(1).⁴ The removal is thus tied to the arrest, which may be for multiple offenses. And removal is all or nothing vis-àvis an arrest: it applies to "any fingerprint record taken in connection therewith."

The surrounding subsections further illustrate how this works. The database statutes have as their core ingredients arrests and the fingerprint records created at arrest: Law enforcement must take "fingerprints" of "persons arrested" and transmit them with the arrest information, Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1), and DOJ must file those "fingerprint" records "on persons who have been arrested," Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(a).

That fingerprint record is something specific. As the examples in the administrative record show, it is a 10-digit fingerprint card with the person's name, arrest tracking number, arresting officer and agency, and a list of the specific offenses for which the person was arrested. (R. 9:22-23.) When the removal statute refers to a "fingerprint record taken," it is referring to that fingerprint card. Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1). It is the only thing that could be "returned" under the statutory language.

One more statutory term is worth mentioning. The circuit court asked the parties what the word "charge" meant in the phrase "released without charge." (R. 16:1.) The parties agreed that it meant a "formal accusation of an offense" or a "formal assertion of illegality." (R. 17:2; R. 20:2.) See Charge, Merriam-Webster.com, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/charge (last visited Feb. 12, 2019). Put differently, it means "an accusation of a wrong or offense." Charge, Webster's Third New International Dictionary (3rd ed. 1986).

⁴ It also applies to persons "taken into custody." Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1). Custody would be analyzed in the same way.

Thus, what "charge" means turns on what "offense" means in the statute. Here, the statute includes both criminal and municipal "offenses," and so "charge" also must refer to both. Wis. Stat. § 165.83(1)(c)3.

That is confirmed by the code. The statutes use "charge" to refer to both criminal and municipal accusations of illegality. In the criminal code, "[t]he complaint is a written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." Wis. Stat. § 968.01(2). Thus, "a complaint charging a person with an offense" is the accusation that constitutes a "charge." Wis. Stat. § 968.02(1). Municipal court actions are instituted through a "citation or complaint." Wis. Stat. § 800.02(1)-(2). The chapter on municipal procedures then requires the court to inform the defendant "of each charge" at an initial appearance, and it refers to being "charged with a violation of an ordinance." Wis. Stat. § 800.035(2)(a)1., (5)(a). Thus, a "charge" includes formal assertions of illegality made in a criminal complaint or in a municipal citation or complaint.

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