### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2 Appeal No. 2018AP2274

# **RECEIVED**

03-27-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DEMONTA ANTONIO HALL,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM POCAN, PRESIDING

# Petitioner-Respondent's Response Brief

LEGAL ACTION OF WISCONSIN, INC.

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent, Demonta Antonio Hall

Kori L. Ashley State Bar No.: 1083989 Caitlin K. Noonan State Bar No.: 1088893

P.O. Address 230 W. Wells St., Suite 800

Milwaukee, WI 53203

Phone: (414) 278-7722

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

#### Argument

DOJ's argues, throughout these proceedings, that in order to qualify for removal pursuant to Wis. Stat. §165.84(1), all references on a given fingerprint card, regardless of the charge date of the listed offenses or of the total separation of the charges with respect to the alleged activity, must be released or cleared. (R: 8:2, 9:26, 40).

DOJ's interpretation suffers from two fundamental defects: it ignores the intent of the legislature and renders the word "subsequently" in the phrase "subsequently released without charge" meaningless. Finally, DOJ misinterprets the intent behind the "fugitive from justice" statutory provision. Based on these flawed interpretations, this Court should affirm the circuit court's decision.

A. DOJ's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 165.84 is contrary to the plain language of the statute.

Statutory construction begins with an examination of the language because Wisconsin courts presume that the legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 663, 681 N.W.2d 110, 124. Statutes must be interpreted within the context, not in isolation, to the language of the related statutes. 2004 WI ¶ 46. Furthermore, statutory language is interpreted reasonably to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. 2004 WI ¶ 46.

Wisconsin Statute §165.84(1) provides in relevant part that "...[a]ny person arrested or taken into custody and subsequently released without charge, or cleared of the offense through court proceedings, shall have any fingerprint record taken in connection therewith returned up on request."

The statute thus distinguishes between people who are arrested and fingerprinted as part of that arrest and then "subsequently" convicted for the conduct for which they were arrested and people who are arrested and who are "subsequently" not charged or cleared through court proceedings. That distinction reflects the presumption of innocence that attaches to one group when a charge has been dismissed or there has been a court finding of not guilty. This reading of the statute is consistent with the most fundamental principles of criminal justice. It also avoids the interpretive sin of writing words out of the statute. *Kalal*, 271 Wis.2d 633, ¶ 46, 681 N.W.2d 110; *see also United States v. Jicarilla Apache Nation*, 564, U.S. 162, 185, 131 S. Ct. 2313.180 L.Ed. 2d 187 (2011).

DOJ's interpretation, by contrast, rendered the word "subsequently" superfluous by arguing that it modifies only the word "released." (DOJ/Appellant Brief at 11-12). In that reading, "subsequently" or "subsequent" becomes surplusage because *all* releases after arrest are subsequent to the arrest. Mr. Hall's interpretation gives effect to every word in the statute: if the new arrest does not result in new charges, or if the new charges are "cleared" through the newly instituted court proceedings, the arrestee preserves the presumption of innocence and is entitled to return of the fingerprint card.

DOJ's interpretation also runs afoul of the principle that statutory interpretation should not lead to absurd results. The absurd result here is that under DOJ's interpretation, "subsequently" modifies only "released," and not the post-arrest new charges. By conflating a current arrest, based on recent activity, with some antecedent arrest, based on an entirely different set of activities, DOJ's interpretation could prevent vast numbers of people previously charged of an offense from ever taking advantage of Wis. Stat. §165.84(1).

Under DOJ's interpretation, for example, a person charged and for whom a warrant was issued in 1970 could not obtain return of a fingerprint card from a 2017 arrest for a separate, unrelated offense, in which that warrant was discovered, even if the 2017 arrest yields no new charges. That reading is, of course, absurd. The circuit court, by contrast, examined the context of the statutory language to arrive at a reasonable and workable interpretation which requires that there be a "nexus" connecting arrest events in

order to reconcile their linkage within a CIB arrest cycle. (R:23: 9).

On the facts, there is no dispute that the September 2015 and January 2017 arrests did not result in a conviction for his conduct in September 2015 or January 2017. The two antecedent municipal court proceedings are as disconnected from the September 2015 and January 2017 conduct as the hypothetical 1970 charge in the preceding paragraph. If law enforcement authorities had charged a new crime, committed in September 2015, such as flight to avoid prosecution or disorderly conduct for his conduct in January 2017, then Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1) would look to those charges (subsequent to the new arrest) to determine if the "released without charge or cleared" language applies.

B. Mr. Hall's interpretation of Wis. Stat. §165.84(1) is consistent with the legislature's intent to track an individual's criminal history event from beginning to end.

Wisconsin Statute §165.83(2)(f) requires DOJ to collect information about the legal action "taken in connection with offenses committed ...from the inception of the complaint to the final discharge of the defendant." That phrase illustrates the legislative intent that DOJ create a narrative history that begins with an arrest or a charge<sup>6</sup>, includes information about the various stages of the criminal justice process, and ends with the final disposition of the case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Some narratives begin with a charge and not an arrest. For example, a person may be cited for an ordinance violation and never be arrested. In another instance, a person may be charged with a crime in absentia and an arrest warrant may be issued.

The interceding events that occur from the beginning to end of a case are like chapters in a book. If a court issues a warrant for an individual before a case goes to trial or after a case is resolved, that warrant is another chapter in the book that began with an arrest or a charge.

Contrary to DOJ's position, a person is not newly charged just because law enforcement discovers upon their arrest that a warrant has been previously issued. That warrant is not the beginning of a new narrative of events; rather, it is related to an event that exists prior to and separate from the arresting offense.

The plain language of the statute mandates that any person arrested and fingerprinted shall, after a period of time in which charges may be amended, dismissed, or prosecuted and guilt or innocence has been determined, have any fingerprint taken in connection "therewith" returned. The phrase "in connection therewith" plainly modifies the initial arrest that initiated the sequence of events, which means that this statute, like Wis. Stat. §165.83(2)(f), reflects the legislature's intent to treat an event that begins with an arrest as a single event with multiple stages or chapters.

# C. DOJ's supposedly "absurd" hypothetical result does not occur under a common sense reading of Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1).

DOJ argued both to the circuit court and in its opening appellate brief that implementing a policy that would comport with the plain language of the statute is "unworkable." In support of its position, it presented a flawed hypothetical to the Court, stating that... a person who is (1) arrested; (2) then

charged or cited; (3) then found guilty would not be entitled to remove his corresponding fingerprint arrest card from the database. However, if (1) and (2) were reversed, that person would be eligible for removal." (DOJ/Appellant Brief at 13). While it is truly absurd that the legislature would authorize removal of a fingerprint of a person arrested and convicted of a new crime, neither the context nor the language requires that result. DOJ's analysis is simply wrong. In either variation of its hypothetical, a person who is convicted on the new charges (regardless of whether "charged" before arrest or after arrest) never survives the "cleared through court proceedings" prong and is thus the cycle is not eligible for removal pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1).

Nor does the statutory language create an odd result for the innocent arrestee based on the timing of the "arrest" and the "charge." If a prosecutor files a criminal complaint and then a defendant is arrested, the defendant remains "charged" subsequent to the most recent arrest. The fact that that particular innocent defendant could not be "subsequently released without charge" (the charge having been already made), does not prevent the innocent defendant from obtaining the relief of Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1) when the defendant is "cleared" through the criminal proceedings. The fingerprint card is returned. Conversely, if the defendant is not cleared, the fingerprint card remains on file because Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1) has not been satisfied.

Because DOJ's hypothetical leads to absurd results, the most logical meaning of the statute is that any person arrested and then later released without charge, or cleared by the court of the offense they are arrested for, "shall have any fingerprint record taken in connection" with that arrest returned. Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1). The presumption of innocence is vindicated as to the new accusations.

Antecedent charges are simply irrelevant because the temporal nexus in Wis. Stat. § 165.84 links new accusations of criminal conduct to the resolution of those new accusations.

Thus, the circuit court correctly applied the plain language of the statute when it reasoned that there must be a temporal and sequential "nexus" linking an arrest to a charge and that nexus is not satisfied simply because the law enforcement agency grouped events relating to multiple, distinct arrest events on a single fingerprint card. Ignoring both time and a connection between the arrest and charge undoubtedly would mean, as the circuit court aptly points out, that a person who has a minor conviction may never have a fingerprint record removed from the database. (R:23: 9).

D. DOJ's "fugitive from justice" argument fails because it ignores the distinction between Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2) and 165.84(1), and it disregards the legislative intent behind Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(j).

DOJ argues that the circuit court's interpretation of the removal statute, Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1), is incompatible with the "fugitive from justice" clause<sup>7</sup> of Wis. Stat. § 164.83(2)(a), which governs the categories of information DOJ collects in its CIB database. (DOJ/Appellant Brief at 13). This argument should be rejected for two reasons: (1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Wis. Stat. § 164.83(2)(a)4.

DOJ's argument that the statutes are incompatible relies on a fundamental misunderstanding of the distinction between the statutes; and (2) DOJ ignores the intent of the "fugitive from justice" provision of the statute.

Both Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2) (the collection of information statute) and Wis. Stat. § 165.84(1) (the return of fingerprint cards statute) are compatible and can be applied consistently. Wisconsin Statute § 165.83(2) lists the information DOJ is to collect in the first instance; while, § 165.84(1) addresses when DOJ shall remove fingerprint information previously collected. DOJ conflates the purposes of these statutes when it argues that its requirement to file fingerprints of a "fugitive from justice" countermands its requirement to remove those fingerprints from its database when the elements of the removal statute are met. (DOJ/Appellant Brief at 14). As long as a person remains a suspected "fugitive from justice," DOJ keeps the record and makes it available to law enforcement. However, as soon as one determines that the suspect is no longer a "fugitive from justice" because either they have been arrested or there is no new criminal charge related to being a "fugitive from justice" for which they have been convicted, then § 165.84(1) directs the fingerprint card be removed. One can be falsely accused of being a "fugitive from justice" just as one can be falsely accused of a crime.

The structure of the statutes bears this argument out.

Wisconsin Statute § 165.83(2)(a) provides five categories<sup>8</sup> of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Wisconsin Statute § 165.83(2)(a) requires DOJ "to obtain and file fingerprints...on persons who have been arrested or taken into custody in

persons, who have been arrested or taken into custody, from whom DOJ must obtain and file fingerprints. "Fugitive[s] from justice" comprise only one of those five categories. Nowhere does the statute state that a "fugitive from justice" should be treated differently than persons whose fingerprints DOJ has obtained and filed because they were arrested for an offense. Had the legislature intended for a "fugitive from justice" to be treated differently by DOJ than other persons who have been arrested, it would have provided a special rule for this category in the statute. It did not. The "fugitive from justice" provision should be interpreted consistently with the other categories within this section—simply as one type person whose fingerprints DOJ is charged with obtaining and filing. See Perra v. Menomonee Mut. Ins. Co., 2000 WI App 215, ¶ 9, 239 Wis. 2d 26, 31, 619 N.W.2d 123, 126 ("Statutes and rules that assist in implementing a chapter's goals and policies should be read in pari materia.").

It is a separate question entirely when those fingerprints must be removed from DOJ's criminal history database. Wisconsin Statute § 165.84(1) requires DOJ to return "any fingerprint record taken in connection therewith" an arrest when an individual has been "subsequently released without charge." No language in the statute suggests that a "fugitive from justice" whose arrest does not result in a subsequent charge does not have the same recourse as a

this state: (1) For an offense which is a felony...(2) For an offense which is a misdemeanor...or which is a violation of an ordinance...(3) For an offense charged or alleged as disorderly conduct... (4) As a fugitive from justice. (5) For any other offense designated by the attorney general." (emphasis added)

person who was arrested for an offense that does not result in a charge. The circuit court reasoned, "an individual is not 'charged' upon release simply because a charge exists in the ether." (R:23: 9). Here, Mr. Hall may have been charged with municipal ordinance violations prior to his arrest for criminal cases, but those charges occurred prior—not subsequent—to his arrest. Therefore—even if he had been a "fugitive from justice"—Mr. Hall met all elements of the removal statute.

DOJ disregards the analysis central to this case when it states that "[i]t cannot be that the statute requires the reporting of a fugitive's arrest and then *automatically* allows it to be removed." (DOJ/Appellant Brief at 14) (emphasis added). The argument is a red herring because the statute does not "automatically" allow it to be removed. A fugitive's fingerprint card would be returned if the fugitive was not charged with a crime or if charged is cleared of that charge by a court.

DOJ also ignores the purpose of the "fugitive from justice" provision in the statute for which information is collected. The DOJ database helps law enforcement officials apprehend people believed to be fugitives. Wisconsin Statute § 165.83(2)(j) clearly outlines the reason that DOJ is charged with filing the fingerprints of fugitives: DOJ shall "compare the fingerprints…that are received from law enforcement…with the fingerprints and descriptions already on file and, if the person arrested or taken into custody is a fugitive from justice or has a criminal record, immediately notify the law enforcement…agenc[y] concerned and supply

copies of the criminal record to these agencies." Wis. Stat. § 165.83(2)(j).

The legislature intended, based on the plain language of this section of the statute, for DOJ's database to be used as a tool for law enforcement to resolve legal issues surrounding "fugitive[s] from justice." The effect of this requirement is that DOJ can aid law enforcement in their investigations and assist in pushing charged cases in warrant status to resolution. The legislature just as clearly intended that individuals arrested for crimes which they are later not prosecuted for or convicted of should be able to remove information about their arrests from the public reports used by private citizens to make important decisions. These two intentions are not in conflict; rather, they reflect the legislature's recognition that the DOJ archive functions as one kind of resource for law enforcement and another kind of resource for public record check requestors.

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